STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES CALEB WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-001601

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

AUG 21 2018

SC Court of Appeals

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by refusing to direct a verdict on attempted murder counts where the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence appellant specifically intended to shoot anyone, since the judge's reasoning that appellant was guilty if anyone was shot in the parking lot that night, because he admitted he shot a gun, was erroneous as to the charge of attempted murder that appellant was ultimately convicted of committing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Sumter County Grand Jury for the offenses of two counts of attempted murder, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 310 – 312. Appellant's case was called to trial on July 17, 2017, before the Honorable Howard King, and a jury. Calvin Hasty represented appellant. Tyler Brown was the assistant solicitor.

On July 19, 2017, the jury found appellant guilty of the attempted murder of Ashley R., but not guilty of the attempted murder of Malik Myers. The jury also found appellant guilty of possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 303, ll. 6-16. Judge King sentenced appellant to fifteen years imprisonment, suspended upon the service of ten years, and five years probation. R. 304, ll. 7-14.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 416, 429 S.E.2d at 409.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by refusing to direct a verdict on attempted murder counts where the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence appellant specifically intended to shoot anyone, since the judge's reasoning that appellant was guilty if anyone was shot in the parking lot that night, because he admitted he shot a gun, was erroneous as to the charge of attempted murder that appellant was ultimately convicted of committing.

Introduction

There was no substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant shot Ashley R., or that he specifically intended to attempt to murder her. The same was true of Malik Myers, and the jury acquitted appellant of that attempted murder. R. 303, ll. 6-16. Given this record, if appellant did not intend to shoot Malik Myers, it is hard to fathom how the judge thought there was substantial circumstantial evidence appellant attempted to shoot and kill Ashley R. Malik Myers, after all, had already been sentenced for him shooting a gun at the May 2, 2015, teen party at the Club Cream in Sumter and seemingly attempting to kill Ashley R. Further, Malik essentially refused to implicate appellant in any manner in his testimony before the jury in this case.

Ashley R. would testify that Malik apologized to her after she was shot -- almost all inferences from the record being that she was shot -- accidentally. If appellant discharged his gun that night in a negligent or irresponsible manner, the correct charge was not attempted murder. The proper charge fitting the facts of this case was likely ABHAN.

Relevant Facts

Lead Corporal Joseph Jones was dispatched to a shooting in the area of the Club Cream in Sumter -- at a "teen party" -- in the early morning hours of May 2, 2015. R. 19, l. 4 -- 23, l. 24. Jones remembered that reserve officer Steve Bickford "happened to be in the area right there

on Rast Street, Bultman Street area of Club Cream. And he came across where he was staying at and saw a bunch of people running from the parking lot. . . .” R. 22, ll. 16-26. Fifteen-year-old Ashley R. was crying. She had been shot in the leg. R. 23, l. 26 – 24, l. 8.

Jones remembered seeing a large “group of people” outside, and “EMS was on the way to pick up Ms. R. . . .” R. 24, ll. 13-19. Jones remembered finding six shell casings at the scene. Only one gun, a Springfield .40 caliber pistol was found in the area, even though it was undisputed there was more than one shooter. R. 34, ll. 4-23.

As will be seen infra, it was undisputed that Malik Myers was also shooting his gun that night. Appellant would later testify that Malik and appellant were not the only persons who fired a gun that evening in the parking lot at the teen club. R. 194, l. 23 – 197, l. 21. Defense counsel renewed his motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the defense case following appellant’s testimony. R. 212, l. 13 – 213, l. 19.

Chelsea Rogers was nineteen-years-old at the time of appellant’s trial. R. 37, l. 24 -- 38, l. 5. Chelsea admitted she did not want to testify during appellant’s trial. R. 38, ll. 8-11.

Chelsea stated on May 2, 2015, that she went to the Club Cream for a teen party in Sumter. Describing a teen party, Chelsea said: “I guess it’s where a lot of teens get together, you know, have fun, but something bad always ends up happening.” R. 38, ll. 18-21.

Chelsea said that Malik Myers was a friend but he did not go with her to the teen party that night. Chelsea and her friends arrived at the teen party at about eleven o’clock, They were “dancing and having fun” when she saw there was a problem on the other side of the club. R. 39, l. 18 – 40, l. 4.

Chelsea remembered talking to Malik, “and he said he was going to leave with me.” They all walked out of the club. Chelsea was walking to her car, and Malik was a behind her.

“When we got over there to the car, I heard a gunshot from over there . . . I heard another gunshot, and then I heard another one come back from where everybody was at.” Chelsea said she did not see Malik with a gun that night, and Malik ran in the opposite direction of the gunfire “to where his friends were.” R. 40, l. 18 – 44, l. 18.

Chelsea said that the solicitor’s office eventually contacted her mother, and they asked her to come to the courthouse to see the solicitor. Chelsea remembered, “They wanted me to be a witness to something that happened at the club that night.” R. 48, ll. 3-24. Chelsea again said she wanted no part in this trial. R. 49, ll. 3-4. Chelsea offered that she had never met Appellant James Williams. R. 53, ll. 9-17.

Ashley R. was fifteen-years-old at the time of the teen party at the Club Cream on May 2, 2015. R. 68, l. 11 – 69, l. 15. She arrived at the teen party between ten and eleven o’clock. She was still at the club when it was closing at two a.m. R. 69, l. 16 – 70, l. 21.

Ashley remembered after leaving the club she was going to the nearby McDonalds to “see a fight” between two girls. R. 71, l. 7 – 72, l. 6.

When she was walking into the parking lot “up to a car, they said fight, gun, shooting. That’s when -- by the time I could duck down, feel (sic) like a bee sting. I touched my leg, and started to panic.” R. 72, ll. 2-12. Ashley said she looked around and saw Malik Myers. “But I seen him shoot after -- I seen the other like two -- two shots before he shoot (sic), that’s when I duck down . . .” “I seen Malik with a gun, that’s when I heard the -- before he shoot (sic), I heard like two more, two or three gunshots before he shoot. (sic). He shoot. (sic).” R. 72, l. 2 – 73, l. 10.

Ashley estimated four or five shots were fired before she realized she had been shot in the leg, and was bleeding. R. 74, l. 9 – 76, l. 4. Ashley was treated at Tuomey Hospital in Sumter.

The bullet was removed from her leg. R. 75, l. 19 – 77, l. 14. Ashley told the police that she was shot by an unknown black man. She said Malik Myers “came to me and apologized to me afterwards. That’s how I get (sic) to know him.” R. 78, ll. 7-17.

On cross-examination, Ashley repeated that Malik Myers apologized to her. Ashley said she was not sure whether Malik was apologizing because he shot her, but Ashley said after Malik apologized, “I said, ‘You good, I’m not mad at you.’ He said, ‘Okay.’” R. 85, l. 12 – 86, l. 7. Ashley said she heard there were at least two people shooting guns that evening. R. 88, ll. 9-13.

Malik Myers testified that he pled guilty to ABHAN for the shooting incident in this case. He was seventeen-years-old at the time of the May 2, 2015 teen party. R. 54, l. 3 – 56, l. 20. Myers essentially disavowed his statement to the police, telling the solicitor, “Man, I just came from a hospital, man. I wasn’t thinking right when I was writing my statement. . . . it wasn’t no altercation. It was just some words.” R. 59, ll. 2-9.

Malik said he had his .38 revolver with him that evening “because anything could have happened after the club.” R. 62, ll. 2-19. As for appellant, Malik Myers said: “I don’t know whether James Williams was shooting or not. I’m just saying -- I -- you telling me -- I just know I got shot. You’re saying he’s the shooter. I’m telling you I didn’t know he was shooting. That’s what this statement said.” R. 65, ll. 2-14. Myers testified he was shot in the leg, and he repeated he did not know if appellant was the person who fired the gun where the bullet ultimately wounded his leg. R. 66, ll. 5-23.

SLED agent Michelle Eichenmiller was qualified as an expert in ballistics and firearms. R. 112, ll. 1-9. She testified “in my opinion, those cartridge cases [found at the scene] were fired by the firearm.” The firearm was a Springfield model XD .40 Smith and Wesson. R. 117, l. 25 – 118, l. 10.

As to the bullet removed from Ashley R.'s leg, the SLED agent could only say that "the comparisons were inconclusive with the test fired bullet from the Springfield and the evidence bullet that was submitted. R. 118, l. 11 – 120, l. 3; R. 122, ll. 12-22. Inconclusive does not rise to the level of substantial circumstantial evidence, and there was no evidence appellant intended to shoot and kill Ashley.

Detective Nathalie Kelly testified that Malik Myers told her that appellant shot at him and hit him in the leg. Malik said: "I pull out the .38 gun I had and shot back." R. 142, l. 19 – 143, l. 15.

Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict, arguing Malik Myers was not sure who shot him and the same was true for Ashley R. Defense counsel said the state had not carried its burden of proof. R. 159, l. 22 – 160, l. 7.

The solicitor argued that the impeachment evidence of Malik Myers and other witnesses revealed appellant shot first. He also claimed there was "strong evidence" that appellant shot Ashley R. "And also **just specifically because he was not shooting directly at Ashley**, I would point out that we're proceeding **under transferred intent** and we do believe that he was firing his gun with malice and the bullet struck Ashley R." R. 160, l. 13 – 161, l.6. (emphasis added).

The judge said his duty under Rule 19, SCRCrimP, when ruling on a directed verdict was to determine whether there was "competent" evidence mandating that the case should go to the jury. The judge ruled that his recollection of the testimony was that "Mr. Williams, fired first and was firing at both Mr. Malik Myers **and that by transferred intent**, at the other victim in the case." (emphasis added). The judge said there was both direct and circumstantial evidence, and he was therefore not going to direct a verdict. R. 161, l. 10 – 162, l. 13.

During the defense case, Qawiyy McFadden testified that he went to the teen party on May 2, 2015, and he got together with appellant there. R. 164, l. 8 – 165, l. 12.

They left the club at about one a.m., and went to appellant's Mustang. R. 165, ll. 2-24. McFadden said it was crowded at the club when the shooting occurred. McFadden testified: "I seen everybody coming out of the club, so I got out of the car to see what was the next move for the night. And then mix up -- the shots started going off when I was out of the club. I seen James go like towards the back of his car and by maybe the first five shots, I was already hit. And I didn't know what else happened." McFadden said he did not see appellant shooting when these bullets were flying. R. 166, l. 7 – 169, l. 19.

McFadden was shot in the ear near appellant's green Mustang. R. 166, l. 7 – 169, l. 19. McFadden stated he was not sure if Malik Myers was charged with shooting him. R. 171, ll. 10-12.

Crime scene investigator Amanda Snapp testified that there appeared to be "five bullet holes in the roof line of [appellant's] vehicle." Snapp said there were no bullet holes in the front of appellant's car, so "I can only imagine that they came from the back of the vehicle, most likely." R. 174, l. 17 – 177, l. 10.

Appellant testified in his own defense. He was nineteen-years-old, and he was only seventeen at the time of the teen party. He was attending Central Carolina University at the time of his trial. R. 178, l. 6 – 180, l. 1. Appellant left the club about one a.m. that morning. He remembered seeing Malik Myers coming towards his car, and Malik had a gun. Malik began shooting at appellant, "So that's when I started shooting, and that's when I ran off when I seen the security guard coming, and I threw my gun under the tree." Appellant said that Mailk Myers almost shot him, and McFadden was actually shot. He drove McFadden to Tuomey Hospital

early that morning. R. 181, l. 19 – 184, l. 9. Appellant specifically said he did not shoot Ashley R. that night, and he did not intend to shoot anyone. R. 186, ll. 14-24.

Appellant testified on cross-examination that he fired into his own car so that whomever was shooting would think he was serious, and he was not shooting in the air. Appellant admitted he had a black forty caliber Springfield gun that night. R. 194, l. 13 – 195, l. 5. Appellant said he found five bullet casings on top of his car, and the sixth one “I probably shot it into the ground.” R. 195, l. 19 – 197, l. 7.

Appellant repeated that Malik Myers shot at him first and he told the solicitor there were more than two people shooting at the time of the incident. R. 197, ll. 8-21. As stated, defense counsel renewed his motion for a directed verdict, and the judge -- again citing Rule 19, SCRCrimP -- said it was his duty to send the attempted murder charges to the jury. R. 212, l. 16 – 213, l. 19.

Discussion

Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict, given the lack of evidence that appellant shot Ashley R., the only victim still at issue on appeal given the jury’s verdict. The judge, citing Rule 19, SCRCrimP, stated his view of the evidence was that there was not a failure of “competent evidence” tending to prove the charge in the indictment. See Rule 19, SCRCrimP. The judge reasoned, siding with the solicitor, that he found the state had carried its burden at the directed verdict stage because appellant could be guilty by reason of *transferred intent*. That was error.

In State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), our Supreme Court, in affirming this Court as modified, held that the charge of attempted murder required the state to prove that the defendant had the specific intent to kill. Transferred intent by its nature involves an accidental

shooting victim. See State v. Horne, 282 S.C. 444, 319 S.E.2d 703 (1984). Our Supreme Court noted that the legislature -- when it enacted the attempted murder statute -- intended for it to have a specific intent to kill element.

This case illustrates the error in the trial judge's Rule 19, SCRCrimP reasoning. The state's case was generally that appellant irresponsibly or negligently fired his gun that night. The state contended that appellant meant to shoot Malik Myers, but did not make any assertion that appellant intentionally shot Ashley R.

The jury found appellant not guilty in the attempted murder of Malik Myers, but found him guilty of attempted murder as to Ashley R. It definitely appears that whomever shot Ashley R., that she was a random or accidental victim.

In State v. Hinton, 227 Conn. 301, 630 A.2d 593 (1993), the Supreme Court of Connecticut noted that the crime of attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill. The Court noted that the doctrine of transferred intent that applies to murder, is not needed for the crime of attempted murder, and it does not apply. The Court reasoned that a person could be prosecuted for the attempted murder of a specific person regardless of the fact that that intended victim was not shot or even injured. An unintended or third party victim is irrelevant to the crime of attempted murder. ABHAN would have been the correct charge in this case.

Here, there was no substantial circumstantial evidence that appellant intended to kill or murder Ashley R. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion for a directed verdict, since there was no substantial circumstantial evidence appellant intended to kill Ashley R.