ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 21 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-001601

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

JAMES CALEB WILLIAMS,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0368

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

141 N. Main St
Sumter, SC 29150
(803) 436-2185

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to direct a verdict on attempted murder for both victims because there was direct and substantial circumstantial evidence Appellant intended to shoot and kill victim Malik Myers which, combined with the substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant shot victim Ashley R. and the doctrine of transferred intent, also supported the denial of the motion as to Ashley R.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in denying trial counsel's motion for directed verdict on his attempted murder charges,¹ claiming the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence of his guilt. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. At trial, the State presented substantial evidence of Appellant's guilt, showing Appellant initiated the shooting, he intended to kill Myers, and Appellant was the individual who shot Ashley R. Thus, Appellant's intent to kill Myers transferred to Ashley R.

Analysis

First and foremost, the State notes that it is undisputed in the record that Appellant was armed and fired at least six bullets from his gun during the incident. Appellant himself admitted such in his written statement to police and during his trial testimony. The only questions at trial were who initiated the attack, whether Appellant intended to murder Myers, and whether Appellant was the individual who shot Victim. The State presented a combination of direct and circumstantial evidence answering each of these questions in the affirmative.

Victim, Rogers, and Myers all testified Myers did not initiate the shooting and only fired his own weapon after hearing several gunshots. Myers identified Appellant as the shooter and claimed the latter acted in response to a longstanding feud confirmed by Appellant. Further, Appellant's threatened Myers via hand gesture—forming his hand into a gun and “firing” it at

¹ In his brief, Appellant alleges error in the denial of his directed verdict motion as to **both** attempted murder charges. Because the jury acquitted Appellant of the charge pertaining to Myers, the State's argument will focus on the charge relating to Victim.

Myers—and did, in fact, shoot Myers shortly thereafter. These testimonies, along with Myers's written statements to police, were direct evidence that Appellant initiated the shooting and intended to murder Myers that night. See State v. Copeland, 278 S.C. 572, 581, 300 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1982) (stating a prior inconsistent statement may be admitted as substantive evidence when the declarant testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination).

Further, there is substantial circumstantial evidence indicating Appellant, not Myers, was the individual who shot Victim. Victim, who saw Myers during the exchange of gunfire, did not see him fire in her direction. Further, McFadden, who was next to Appellant's vehicle and not near Victim, testified he was hit in the ear by one of the shots fired from the "front" of the vehicle, which were from Myers's gun. Most importantly, Eichenmiller testified: (1) the ballistics evidence indicated the bullet which hit Victim had characteristics matching other bullets fired from Appellant's Springfield pistol; and (2) the bullet which hit Victim most likely could not have been fired by Myers's weapon because it was too large for Myers's .38 caliber gun. Considered in tandem, this evidence indicates Appellant, not Myers's, was the shooter who injured Victim.

Finally, there is some evidence Appellant intended to kill Victim. In State v. Hinton, 630 A.2d 593 (Conn. 1993), the Supreme Court of Connecticut found a defendant could not be convicted of both attempted murder and assault for harming a surviving victim, Jason Diaz, when he fired a shotgun into a crowd of people. Notably, the court found that although the evidence showed Appellant only had a "beef" with one of the victims killed by the shotgun, the act of firing it into a crowd of people could be interpreted as evidence that Hinton attempted to kill Diaz. Id. at 595–96, 600–02. Similarly, in the instant case, Appellant's act of firing his gun

at crowd of people which included Myers and Victim, could be evidence of his concurrent intent² to kill both because it was reasonable and foreseeable anyone in the crowd he was intentionally firing into would be hit and killed by one of his bullets.

Transferred Intent

Appellant claims the trial judge erred in finding the above-discussed evidence justified the denial of his directed verdict motion as to the attempted murder charge for Victim, claiming South Carolina law requires a specific intent to kill to be proven in murder cases and there is no evidence Appellant specifically intended to harm Victim. Assuming *arguendo* the doctrine of transferred intent is necessary to find Appellant guilty of his charge, the trial judge's use of the doctrine was not error.

In his brief, Appellant cites Hinton for the proposition that transferred intent should not apply to the crime of attempted murder. (Br. of Appellant p.11). However, Appellant's arguments ignore the facts of that case and contradict South Carolina law. First and foremost, the Supreme Court of Connecticut based its opinion on the specific language of Connecticut's murder,³ attempt,⁴ and assault⁵ statutes: Connecticut's murder and assault statutes had specific

² Other jurisdiction which do not apply transferred intent to specific intent crimes recognize that in certain situations, a defendant's actions, although directed at a primary victim, are such that the defendant created a "zone of harm" intended to ensure harm to his target by harming everyone in that victim's vicinity. This legal theory is referred to as the doctrine of concurrent intent. See, e.g., People v. Bland, 48 P.3d 1107 (Cal. 2002) (finding that a defendant created a "kill zone" by firing a flurry of bullets at a car and justified the charge of attempted murder for each of the car's passengers, even those who were not the intended target of his attack). In South Carolina, "concurrent intent" is a variation of transferred intent. See Fennell, 340 S.C. at 271, 531 S.E.2d at 515 (describing a defendant's mental state as a "spotlight" which targets a victim and those in his vicinity).

³ Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 53a-54a (1985) provided, in relevant part: "(a) A person is guilty of murder when, with intent to cause the death of another person, he causes the death of such person or of a third person"

⁴ Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 53a-49 (1985) provided, in relevant part: "(a) A person is guilty of an attempt to commit a crime if, acting with the kind of mental state required for commission of the crime, he: (1) intentionally engages in conduct which would constitute the crime if attendant circumstances were as he believes them to be; or (2) intentionally does or omits to do anything which, under the circumstances as he believes them to be, is an act or omission constituting a substantial step in a course of conduct planned to culminate in his commission of the crime."

provisions allowing for the transfer of intent to unintended victims; however, the Connecticut code does not contain a specific attempted murder statute, but a general attempt statute which states an attempt has been made if a defendant acts “with the kind of mental state required for commission of the crime” Hinton, 630 A.2d at 601. Because of this vague language, the Connecticut Supreme Court felt constrained by the rule of lenity to conclude the doctrine of transferred intent should not be applied to attempted murder. Id. at 602. In South Carolina, unlike Connecticut, our criminal code includes a specific statute proscribing attempted murder. Admittedly, the Supreme Court of South Carolina has found that the crime of “attempted murder” requires a specific intent to kill. State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 55, 810 S.E.2d 18, 22 (2017). Yet, “attempted murder” does not require that specific intent be directed at a specific individual. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (2015) (“A person who, with the intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.”); Williams, 422 S.C. at 542, 812 S.E.2d at 925–26 (emphasis added)); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (2015) (defining “murder” as “the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied” (emphasis added)); Williams, 422 S.C. at 542, 812 S.E.2d at 926 (noting “murder” does not require a specific victim be killed); Fennell, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 517 (finding that, in a homicide prosecution, a defendant’s state of mind is more important than the identity of the victim). In fact, as explained by this Court, “South Carolina’s criminal laws **require** the imposition of the doctrine of transferred intent.” Williams, 422 S.C. 540–41, 812 S.E.2d at 925 (emphasis added).

⁵ Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 53a-59 (1985) provided, in relevant part: “(a) A person is guilty of assault in the first degree when: (1) With intent to cause serious physical injury to another person, he causes such injury to such person or to a third person by means of a deadly weapon or dangerous instrument; or (2) with intent to disfigure another person seriously and permanently, or to destroy, amputate or disable permanently a member or organ of his body, he causes such injury to such person or to a third person; or (3) under circumstances evincing an extreme indifference to human life he recklessly engages in conduct which creates a risk of death to another person, and thereby causes serious physical injury to another person.”

As noted supra, the State presented a combination of direct and substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's specific intent to kill Myers and that he was the shooter who injured Victim. Through the doctrine of transferred intent, Appellant's actions constituted the attempted murder of Victim. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict.

Retrial

Finally, the State notes Appellant's requested remedy, acquittal for attempted murder and an exoneration of his possession of a weapon during a violent crime charge, is improper in this situation. Assuming arguendo the Supreme Court of South Carolina grants certiorari on Williams and finds the doctrine of transferred intent is improper under current State law, the correct remedy would be retrial of Appellant on the charge of ABHAN and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.

In State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 536 S.E.2d 666 (2000), the Supreme Court of South Carolina found the trial judge erred in granting defendant's request to charge voluntary manslaughter in a murder trial because it was not supported by the evidence presented. It further ruled the defendant could not be retried on the murder charge because conviction of the voluntary manslaughter charge was an implicit acquittal of murder and thus retrial on murder would violate the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy. Id. at 69–70, 536 S.E.2d at 669–70. However, the court found Cooley could be retried on involuntary manslaughter because the charge was supported by some evidence at trial, and the voluntary manslaughter conviction was not an acquittal of that charge. Id.

Similarly, in State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 713 S.E.2d 591 (2011), the Supreme Court of South Carolina reversed a defendant's conviction for felony forgery.⁶ Notably, the court found there was enough evidence of the offense to survive Brandt's motion for a directed verdict and submit the charge to the jury. However, because the State failed to prove the value of the forged item was \$5,000 or more—a requisite element of the offense—the court remanded the case to the circuit court so the trial judge could sentence him for misdemeanor forgery, a lesser-included offense which did not require the State to prove the value of the forged item. Id. at 548–49, 713 S.E.2d at 602–03 (citing State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 597–98, 602 S.E.2d 392, 401 (2004)).

Should the Supreme Court of South Carolina reverse Williams and find the doctrine of transferred intent improper under South Carolina law, the proper remedy would be, similar to Cooley, a remand for a retrial. Appellant concedes in his brief that the evidence presented at trial supported, at a minimum, ABHAN: Appellant admitted to firing his gun that night and a combination of direct and circumstantial evidence indicated Appellant was the individual responsible for Victim's injury. Even without the doctrine of transferred intent, Appellant's actions constitute a cognizable crime under South Carolina law.

⁶ Under S.C. Code Ann. Section 16-13-10(B)(1)(2003), a person convicted of forgery was guilty of felony if the amount of the forgery was five thousand dollars or more; if the forgery did not include a dollar amount, the person was guilty of a misdemeanor.

CONCLUSION